IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MAR 15 1993

By Chief Deputy Clerk

ELMER LE	ON CARROLL,)			
	Appellant,)			
vs.		ý	CASE	NO.	79,829
STATE OF	FLORIDA,)			
	Appellee.))			

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

JAMES R. WULCHAK CHIEF, APPELLATE DIVISION ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER Florida Bar No. 0249238

CHRISTOPHER S. QUARLES CHIEF, CAPITAL APPEALS ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER Florida Bar No. 0294632

112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904)252-3367

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The defendant was charged by indictment with one count of first degree felony murder (by asphyxiation) and sexual battery on a child under 12 years old. (R 996-997) The defendant was arraigned and entered a plea of not guilty to the charges. (R 1001)

The defendant, who was initially found incompetent and was hospitalized, filed a motion to determine competency to stand trial. (R 1038-1039) According to the reports of the doctors and their testimony at the competency hearing, the defendant was psychotic. (R 1057-1077) Dr. Benson determined that this psychosis was severe enough to cause the defendant to be incompetent to stand trial. (R 1062, 1344-1349) Dr. Kirkland, who initially hospitalized the defendant because of his incompetency, opined

that the defendant was now well enough to proceed to trial. (R 1073, 1357-1366) The other two doctors also opined that the defendant was competent to stand trial. (R 1057, 1066, 1367-1387) Following the hearing, the court ruled that the defendant was competent to stand trial. (R 1081)

Defense counsel filed a motion to suppress evidence removed from the defendant at the time of his arrest, and all evidence, including DNA samples obtained from the defendant, which was the fruit of the arrest, contending that the stop of the defendant and his arrest, without probable cause, was unlawful. (R 1088-1092) Following a hearing, the trial court denied the motion to suppress. (R 1103)

The defendant also filed a motion in limine or to suppress the DNA profiling in this case, arguing that the FBI's methods of profiling, using a limited database, were not validated and, hence, not reliable. (R 1093-1095) The court initially reserved ruling on this issue, but, at trial, denied the defendant's motion, ruling the DNA evidence was admissible. (R 63-70, 74-77, 1103)

At trial, the defense presented evidence of the defendant's insanity at the time of the offense. (R 625-626, 633-783)

The trial court denied the defendant's motions for judgment of acquittal and the jury found the defendant guilty as charged. (R 620-621, 784, 879-881)

The penalty phase of the trial was held three weeks later. The state presented additional evidence concerning a

fight with a beer bottle that the defendant had with his exgirlfriend's new boyfriend. (R 888-896) Additionally, the state
presented a 1980 conviction for aggravated assault and additional
testimony of the medical examiner concerning whether there was
pain associated with the asphyxiation and sexual battery. (R 887888, 896-904) The doctor opined that there would be no physical
pain, but fear, associated with the asphyxiation and, although
the sexual battery would have been painful if the victim were
conscious, there was no way of knowing if she had already lost
consciousness. (R 896-904) The defense presented no additional
testimony in mitigation. However, the state and defense did
stipulate that the defendant had been sexually molested when he
was a child. (R 914-917; Defense Exhibit No. 1) The jury recommended by a unanimous vote that the defendant be sentenced to
death. (R 1281)

The Court followed the jury's recommendation and sentenced the defendant to death for the first degree murder conviction, finding three aggravating factors: (b) the defendant was previously convicted of aggravated assault in 1980 and aggravated battery in 1992; (d) the murder was committed during the course of a sexual battery; and (h) the murder was heinous, atrocious, or cruel. (R 1285-1289, 1297) The court rejected all of the statutory mitigating factors. (R 1290-1296) Specifically, the court rejected the mental mitigator of (b) under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance, by recounting the trial testimony from experts that the defendant knew right

from wrong; but the court did note that some experts believed that the defendant did not know right from wrong and was psychotic and hallucinating. (R 1290-1294) In weighing this testimony, the court chose to believe the state's experts. (R 1294) Additionally, although noting that there was some testimony regarding the defendant's bizarre behavior prior to the incident, the court still rejected this factor, stating that there was no testimony that defendant was exhibiting bizarre behavioral characteristics at time of murder or sexual battery. (R 1293-Similarly the trial court rejected mitigating factor (f) the capacity to appreciate criminality of conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired, by stating simply that although the defendant may have been emotionally disturbed, he "did know the difference of right from wrong" and was able to appreciate his criminality and conform his conduct to the requirements of the law. (R 1295) trial court did find as a non-statutory mitigating circumstance that the defendant "does suffer from some possible mental abnormalities and has an antisocial personality." (R 1296)

The court concluded that the aggravating circumstances outweighed the mitigating factor, and sentenced the defendant to death. (R 1297) Additionally, the court imposed a consecutive life sentence with a twenty-five year minimum mandatory provision on the sexual battery count. (R 1297) The court also ordered that the sentences imposed in this case were to run consecutive to the sentence imposed on an aggravated battery conviction. (R

1297)

The defendant filed a motion for new trial, complaining of, inter alia, the introduction of evidence of the defendant's previous incarceration and character and pattern of criminal conduct; and filed an amended motion for new trial, which included an allegation of newly-discovered evidence, to-wit: a telephone call to the state attorney's office regarding the victim's step-father's alleged sale of drugs, including sales to the defendant, and the step-father's alleged use of drugs. (R 1262-1263, 1326-1327; 1338) A notice of appeal was timely filed. (R 1318) This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On October 30, 1990, Robert Rank awoke at about 6:00 a.m., got dressed, and went to awaken his ten-year-old step-daughter, Christine McGowan. (R 304) Rank's wife, who worked nights, was still at work. (R 300) He noticed that the bedroom door, which had been open when he checked on Christine at about midnight, was pulled closed. (R 304)

Turning on the bedroom light, Rank noticed that his step-daughter was lying face down the bed, with the bedspread pulled up over her ears. (R 305) When she did not respond to his calls, he went to her bed, uncovered her, and noticed that she appeared discolored. (R 305) He turned her over and observed bleeding from between her legs. (R 305) Rank immediately went and called 911. (R 305) While on the telephone, he looked out the window and saw that his company pick-up truck was missing. (R 306) He reported to the police on the phone that the truck was missing. (R 306)

Rescue personnel and the police responded to the scene.

(R 323) The police officer testified that the victim had on a pair of panties with blood in the crotch area. (R 324) Her nightgown was lying beside her, having been removed by the rescue personnel. (R 324) The victim had bruises and scratches around her neck. (R 324) The medical examiner reported that the victim died of asphyxia as a result of mechanical obstruction of her airway. (R 406) Physical evidence, the bruises and scratches to her neck, indicated strangulation, and an injury to her mouth

revealed something being placed over her mouth. (R 406, 410-411)
The doctor also noted a blunt force injury to the side of the
girl's head. (R 413) There also were injuries to the victim's
vaginal opening and a tearing of the hymen, consistent with
sexual intercourse. (R 415-416) There also was discoloration to
her anal opening, indicating attempted penetration by a blunt
object. (R 416)

Deborah Hiatt, who lives on Highway 50, near the entrance to Speed World, observed Rank's pick-up truck parked near the entrance to Speed World when she left for work at approximately 6:50 a.m. on October 30, 1990. (R 356-357) While travelling east on Highway 50 on her way to work, she observed a "straggly looking" man wearing a brown jacket walking east on Highway 50. (R 358) Later that morning, while at work, Ms. Hiatt heard on the radio that police were looking for the truck she had seen. (R 359) She returned home, checked the truck to see if it matched the description from the radio, and called the police. (R 359)

The police were dispatched to the scene of the truck at 8:40 a.m. (R 336) Meanwhile, Carl Young, a wildlife officer for the State of Florida, was traveling home from work on Highway 520 and observed, approximately two miles from Speed World and 1½ miles from the intersection of Highway 520 and Highway 50, a transient-looking man walking along the road, heading in the direction of a convenience store. (R 4-7, 366-367) Proceeding onto Highway 50, at approximately 9:00 a.m., Young observed the

police near the entrance to Speed World, with their guns drawn, examining the pick-up truck. (R 8, 368-369) Thinking that they may have required assistance, Young stopped to help. (R 8-9, 368-369)

Ten minutes after the police arrived, Hiatt approached Young and the officers and indicated that she had called about the truck. (R 10, 360, 369) Responding to Young's questions, she indicated that she had not seen anyone in the truck, but reported a "scruffy-looking" man wearing a brown jacket, whom she had seen "in the vicinity," although it was about a mile from the truck. (R 10, 360, 363, 369) Young believed that the man he had seen on Highway 520 matched this general description, so he immediately left the scene to drive back to the location on Highway 520. (R 10-11, 360, 369-370)

Young once again observed the defendant walking alongside the roadway and pulled off of the road behind him. (R 11,
370) The wildlife officer called out to the defendant, who kept
walking as if he had not heard Young. (R 12-13, 370, 375-376)
Young drew his weapon and, at gunpoint, ordered the defendant to
stop, place his hands on his head, and lie spread-eagle on the
ground. (R 12-13, 370-371) The defendant looked around, saw the
wildlife officer, and complied with the orders. (R 13, 370-371)
Meanwhile, the police arrived at the scene and the defendant was
"detained." (R 13, 340, 371) Young patted the defendant's pants
pockets, and feeling something hard, pulled out a box cutter from
his hip pocket and a set of keys and some pennies from his left

front pocket. (R 13-14, 371) Young had the police radio the officer at the scene of the truck and determined that a numbered tag on the keys matched the number of the pick-up truck. (R 14-15, 342, 371-372) The police then handcuffed the defendant and advised him of his rights. (R 343, 373)

At trial Deputy McDaniel, one of the arresting officers, in response to the state's questions, told the jury that the defendant had no reaction to being stopped. "He had nothing to say. He didn't ask why we stopped him." (R 344) The defendant's motion for mistrial, on the grounds that this was a comment on the defendant's post-arrest silence, was denied. (R 344) On redirect, the state attorney asked the deputy again about the defendant's demeanor and again the deputy responded, "He showed no emotion at all and it was unusual that he didn't even question at the time--" (R 349) The defendant's second motion for mistrial was again denied. (R 350)

It was discovered that the defendant was a resident of The Lighthouse Mission, which was located next door to the Rank home. (R 293-295) Later, police located two witnesses who observed the defendant and the victim's pick-up truck at a 7-11 convenience store on the morning following the killing. (R 312-317, 327-332)

A serologist testified that stains recovered from the victim matched her step-father's and the defendant's blood types, something that 36 percent of the male population would also match. (R 487-488, 491-492, 492-493) She testified that no blood

was found on the defendant's undershorts. (R 494) A hair and fiber examiner testified that hairs recovered from the victim and her clothing were consistent with those of the defendant. (R 558) The expert also testified, however, that several hair samples did not match those of the defendant. (R 563-565) The FBI expert testified, over the defendant's renewed objections, that the DNA samples obtained from the stains matched those of the defendant, but that there was some overlapping between samples of the defendant and the victim. (R 586, 603) The two samples which were uninterpretable were those comparing the vaginal swab of the victim with the blood sample of the defendant. (R 603-604) Additionally, he opined that, based upon the FBI's database, the chance of a random match of those samples which he could match was one in 50,000. (R 592-593) Some of the comparisons had a difference between them of two percent, which is within the permitted error range the FBI allows (plus or minus 2.5 percent), but which is outside of the permitted error range of other laboratories (plus or minus 1.5 percent). (R 601-602)

At trial, the defense presented a psychologist, Dr. Elizabeth McMann, who testified that the defendant was extremely disorganized and was experiencing both auditory and visual hallucinations two days after the offense. (R 650-654) The psychologist and a psychiatrist, Dr. Jeffrey Danziger, both testified that the defendant was psychotic at the time, out of touch with reality. (R 654-655, 678) The psychiatrist also testified concerning the defendant's visual and auditory halluci-

nations and indicated that the defendant was schizophrenic and suffering from alcohol and drug abuse. (R 670, 674) His father had abused him as a child. (R 671) In the psychiatrist's opinion, the defendant was insane at the time of the offense, that is, he was not able to tell right from wrong and, within a reasonable degree of certainty, was not responsible for his actions. (R 675)

During the state's cross-examination of Dr. Danziger the state was permitted to question the doctor in front of the jury about the defendant's previous incarceration; additionally the state questioned him about previous allegations regarding the defendant sexually abusing children. (R 681-696, 723-726, 731-734) The state also asked the doctor that if the defendant were suffering from schizophrenia, when would it be in remission? "Do you," Assistant State Attorney Jeffrey Ashton inquired, "have an opinion whether the defendant would desire to have sex with young children?" (R 736-738) The defendant's objection to this question was sustained, but the motions for mistrial were denied. (R 738, 760, 784)

Another psychiatrist, Dr. Edward Benson, also testified for the defense that the defendant was experiencing hallucinations. (R 747-748) He testified that the defendant was confused about who his defense attorney was, that he was not sure that it was really Mr. Taylor [the defense lawyer]. (R 755) Dr. Benson diagnosed the defendant during his first visit as suffering from delusions which were interfering with his contact with external

reality. (R 754) At his second visit with the defendant, Dr. Benson diagnosed the defendant as suffering from paranoid schizophrenia, with a previous history of substance abuse, and having a borderline intelligence quotient of 79. (R 758) Dr. Benson found the defendant to be actively psychotic at the time of the crime, therefore not knowing what he was doing or its consequences. (R 759)

The defense also presented the testimony of two bar waitresses who testified that the defendant was acting very bizarre on the evening preceding the crime. They observed the defendant talking to his jacket, a mirror in the bar, and the juke box, saying that he was going to burn in Hell and that Satan and the devil were not myths. (R 634-636, 640-642) One waitress also saw the defendant crying. (R 636)

The state rebutted this testimony with two psychiatrists. One was unable to determine whether the defendant was sane or insane at the time of the offense, believing that he was malingering, although admitting that there may have been moments, such as when Dr. McMann interviewed him, where he was not malingering. (R 510, 514-515, 526) He simply had no opinion as to the defendant's mental condition at the time of the offense. (R 534) Another state psychiatrist testified that the defendant did know right from wrong although he was schizophrenic and delusional and was probably intoxicated at the time of the offense. (R 794) He also verified that the defendant was psychotic and had a history of alcohol abuse. (R 789) Dr. Kirkland also testified that

initially he opined that the defendant was incompetent to stand trial and therefore committed him to a mental hospital. (R 790) Mr. Carroll, he opined, also suffers from an antisocial personality disorder and regularly had difficulty conforming his behavior to what society expects. (R 792)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Point I. The trial court erroneously denied the defendant's motion to suppress evidence seized following an illegal arrest or detention of the defendant. There was no probable cause to arrest the defendant based solely on the insufficient general description of a scruffy-looking man wearing a brown jacket, where the defendant was about two miles away from the abandoned truck and was doing nothing illegal or to arouse suspicion when the wildlife officer observed him.

Point II. During the prosecutor's questioning of a state's witness, that witness commented on the defendant's silence at the time of his arrest. This testimony infringes on the defendant's constitutional right to remain silent. The trial court should have granted the motions for mistrial.

Point III. The trial court erred in allowing into evidence that the defendant was in prison almost continuously for the past ten years, that the defendant had been accused of committing sexual acts with children on two previous occasions, and the question of whether the defendant was a pedophile and would desire to have sex with young children. All these items are totally irrelevant to any material fact in issue in this case. The defendant's motion for mistrial should have been granted.

Point IV. The trial court erroneously allowed evidence of the FBI's DNA comparison testing and their statistical probabilities of a random match, where the state failed to show that

the FBI testing and statistical results have been accepted as accurate. Further, the court would not permit the defendant to question the expert about jurisdictions where the FBI's DNA test results were ruled inadmissible. Additionally, the court erred in refusing a continuance so that the defense could contact DNA experts to show that the FBI test results were not reliable and accepted.

Point V. The trial court erred in making its findings of fact in support of the death sentence where the findings were insufficient, where the court failed to consider appropriate mitigating factors, where the court erroneously found an inappropriate aggravating circumstance, and where a comparison to other capital cases reveals that the only appropriate sentence in the instant case is a life sentence.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE OBTAINED FOLLOWING HIS ILLEGAL ARREST WHERE PROBABLE CAUSE TO ARREST HIM WAS LACKING, IN VIOLATION OF THE FOURTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE I, SECTION 12, FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

The defendant was arrested at gunpoint while innocently walking along a public roadway two miles from the abandoned pickup truck based solely on a witness's statement to police that she
had seen a "scruffy-looking" man wearing a brown jacket in the
vicinity (one mile away) of the truck. (R 10) Such a generalized
description does not provide the probable cause necessary to
arrest the defendant at gunpoint and conduct a search incident to
that custodial detention.

Article I, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution provides that the right of citizens to be secure in their persons against unreasonable searches and seizures shall not be violated and that no search and seizure will occur absent probable cause. See also Amend. IV, U.S. Const. While a person may be searched incident to a lawful arrest [see Chimel v. California, 395 U.S. 752 (1969)], no arrest shall occur without a warrant or absent probable cause. D'Agostino v. State, 310 So.2d 12 (Fla. 1975); §901.15, Fla. Stat. (1991).

That the defendant was not "arrested" here cannot be seriously maintained. The detention of the defendant at gunpoint and by ordering the defendant to the ground, after which a full

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