FILED SID J. WHITE
IN THE SUPREME	COURT OF	FLORIDA	JUN 14 1993 CLERK, SUPREME COURE ByChief Deputy Clerk
J., ,)		

ELMER LEON CARROLL,,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. 79,829

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

RICHARD B. MARTELL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0300179

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

- 76 -

alleged inability to secure the DNA data base from the FBI (R 67; Initial Brief at 41), similarly rings hollow. As the state pointed out at the hearing below, defense counsel never brought to the court's attention any discovery problem which he might have been encountering (R 69), and the state suggests that due diligence has not been demonstrated, in any respect. Further. the state would note that in State v. Dykes, 847 P.2d 1214, 1218 (Kan. 1993), the Kansas Supreme Court rejected a claim of error involving an alleged discovery violation involving the FBI DNA data base. As here, the defendant had contended that he needed access to that data base so that he could attack its reliability. The state supreme court noted that some of the matters contained such as the identification of the therein, donors, were privileged or unavailable, and also observed,

> The defendant has been unable to show how the requested materials were relevant to his case. In a nutshell, the defendant claims that he needed the information to attack the data base of (sic) a theory 'unanimously accepted amongst scientists and lawyers.' The defendant's request can be characterized as a mere entertaining of hope that something of aid may be discovered. The information not relevant or material to the was his defense. (Citation preparation of omitted).

The logic of Dykes is compelling.

In Florida, it is well established that a trial court's ruling on a motion for continuance will not be disturbed on appeal, absent an abuse of discretion. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Williams v.</u> <u>State</u>, 438 So.2d 781, 785 (Fla. 1983); <u>Lusk v. State</u>, 446 So.2d 1038, 1040-1 (Fla. 1984). This court has applied this legal principle in other capital cases, including those where the

alleged basis for the continuance was the need to obtain evidence to counter expert testimony presented by the state. See, Echols v. State, 484 So.2d 568, 572 (Fla. 1985); Robinson, supra. The continuance sought sub judice was not for a limited period of time, nor was there any specific identification of the persons, if any, whom the defense wished to testify. Cf. Wike v. State, 596 So.2d 1020, 1025 (Fla. 1992). Rather the continuance sub judice was an open-ended request for indefinite postponement of the trial, so that investigation could be undertaken, an investigation whose purpose had been known for months. Given the lack of due diligence, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying this motion for continuance. See, e.g., Coney v. State, 258 So.2d 497 (Fla. 3rd DCA), cert. denied, 262 So.2d 448 (Fla. 1972), (trial court did not err in denying continuance, where trial had been set for a considerable period of time and defense had not taken any steps to secure presence of Johns v. State, 24 So.2d 708 (Fla. 1946) (defendant witness); who seeks continuance of trial must set forth what prospective witnesses would say). Alternatively, given the speculative nature of Appellant's request, any error in this regard was harmless, cf. Richardson v. State, 604 So.2d 1107 (Fla. 1992); likewise, given the sophisticated cross-examination actually performed at trial (R 595-609), it is clear that defense counsel sub judice was not a complete stranger to DNA. The instant conviction should be affirmed in all respects.

POINT V

APPELLANT'S SENTENCE OF DEATH IS SUPPORTED BY VALID AGGRAVATION, AND REVERSIBLE ERROR HAS NOT BEEN DEMONSTRATED IN REGARD TO THE SENTENCER'S FINDINGS IN AGGRAVATION AND MITIGATION

Following the jury's return of a unanimous recommendation of death, Judge Perry sentenced Carroll to death, finding that three aggravating circumstances applied - that the homicide had been committed by one with prior conviction for crimes of violence, §921.141(5)(b), Fla.Stat. (1989), that the homicide had been committed during the course of a sexual battery, §921.141(5)(d), Fla.Stat. (1989), and that the homicide had been especially heinous, atrocious or cruel, §921.141(5)(h), Fla.Stat. (1989) (R 1304-1309); the court found that no statutory mitigating circumstances applied, but expressly found as non-statutory mitigation the fact that Carroll suffered from "some possible mental abnormalities and has an anti-social personality." (\mathbf{R}) 1313). On appeal, Appellant contends that the finding of the last-mentioned aggravating circumstance was error, in that the evidence supporting such was allegedly lacking, and also attacks the instruction given the jury on this aggravating factor, in light of Espinosa v. Florida, U.S., 112 S.Ct. 2926, 120 L.Ed.2d 854 (1992). Additionally, Appellant contends that the judge erred in failing to find the statutory mitigating circumstances relating to mental state, and, allegedly, in failing to consider all non-statutory mitigation proffered, under Campbell v. State, 571 So.2d 415 (Fla. 1990). The state would contend that reversible error has not been demonstrated, and that the instant sentence of death should be affirmed in all respects.

A. The Heinous, Atrocious And Cruel Aggravating Circumstances Was Properly Found; Any Claim Based Upon Espinosa v. Florida Is Procedurally Barred And/Or Harmless

Appellant contends that this aggravating circumstance was improperly found, because there is allegedly insufficient evidence to establish that Carroll "intended" the victim to suffer and/or to the effect that she actually did, either mentally or physically. Appellee respectfully contends that only the commendable need for zealous advocacy can explain the presentation of this point on appeal. This case involves the brutal sexual battery and strangulation of a ten-year-old child, which occurred, in all likelihood, at knifepoint, in her own bed in the dead of night. The medical examiner's testimony, to the effect that even if her airway had been completely obstructed, the victim would still have had several minutes of fear, panic, apprehension and awareness of impending death, is unrebutted (R 898-899). The doctor testified that the wounds to the victim's lip were consistent with the victim struggling as a hand was held over her mouth (R 902-903); the presence of bloodstains on her hands, in a location in which no wound existed, is consistent with her trying to fend off the sexual battery, which caused extensive bleeding and injury to her vagina (R 417 - 418). Considering the fact that the medical examiner testified that the pain which she endured as Carroll attempted to penetrate her, both vaginally and rectally, was "comparable to that experienced during childbirth" (R 899-901), it strains credulity to believe that the victim in this case experienced no physical pain. This

court has consistently upheld the finding of this aggravating factor under comparable circumstances. <u>See</u>, e.g., <u>Capehart v.</u> <u>State</u>, 583 So.2d 1009, 1015 (Fla. 1991) (aggravating circumstance properly where victim sexually assaulted and smothered; victim would have remained conscious for one to two minutes and would have experienced foreknowledge of death as well as anxiety and fear); <u>Sanchez-Velasco v. State</u>, 570 So.2d 908, 916 (Fla. 1990) (aggravating circumstance properly found where eleven-year-old child raped and strangled; medical expert testified that child was alive for at least three minutes after defendant began to choke and rape her, and that she suffered panic "of not being able to breathe.").

As noted, Appellant contends that this aggravating circumstance was wrongfully applied, in that there was no evidence to suggest that Carroll "intended" to torture the victim. As support for this proposition, Appellant cites to Santos v. State, 591 So.2d 160, 163 (Fla. 1991), and Cheshire v. State, 568 So.2d 908, 912 (Fla. 1990). While it is true that in each decision, this court, inter alia, observed that there had been no showing that the defendant intended to inflict a great deal of pain upon the victim, this observation was made in the course of the vacation of this aggravating circumstance, found in involving relatively "quick" situations shooting deaths, has occurring during the "heat of passion." This courtconsistently recognized that the mindset or the mental anguish of the victim is an important factor in determining whether this aggravating circumstances applies. See, e.g., Phillips v. State,

- 81 -

476 So.2d 194, 196-197 (Fla. 1985). In determining whether this aggravating circumstance applies, a sentencer is entitled to apply common sense inferences from the circumstances. See Gilliam v. State, 582 So.2d 610, 611-612 (Fla. 1991) (aggravating circumstance properly found, where victim attacked and strangled; defendant's contention that victim's consciousness insufficiently proven rejected). Even if it could be said that the record does not support any finding that the victim suffered physical pain during her torturous murder (a finding which the record would not support), under this court's caselaw, the testimony of the medical examiner to the effect that the victim would have been conscious during her strangulation, and would have suffered fear and anxiety at such time, validates the finding of this aggravating circumstance. See, e.g., Sochor v. State, 18 Fla.L.Weekly S273, S275 (Fla. May 6, 1993) ("It can be inferred 'that strangulation, when perpetrated upon a conscious victim, involves foreknowledge of death, extreme anxiety and fear, and that this method of killing is one to which the factor of heinousness is applicable.'"); Rivera v. State, 561 So.2d 536, 540 (Fla. 1990); Tompkins v. State, 502 So.2d 415, 421 (Fla. 1986); Doyle v. State, 460 So.2d 353, 357 (Fla. 1984); Adams v. State, 412 So.2d 850, 857 (Fla. 1982). The trial court did not err in finding that this truly was a homicide which was conscienceless, pitiless and unnecessarily torturous to the victim.

As noted, Appellant also argues that the jury instruction on this aggravating circumstance violated Espinosa v. Florida, _____

- 82 -

U.S. , 112 S.Ct. 2926, 120 L.Ed.2d 854 (1992). Initially, the state would note that the instruction given in this case is not, in fact, the instruction condemned in Espinosa. Rather, the instruction used sub judice contains a full definition of each of the statutory terms, as well as an admonition to the jury to the effect that what is intended to be included is a crime accompanied by additional acts, such that the crime is conscienceless, pitiless or unnecessarily torturous to the victim (R 954). This court has previously held that this instruction passes constitutional muster. See, e.g., Preston v. State, 607 So.2d 404, 407 (Fla. 1992), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, ____ U.S. ___, 113 S.Ct. 1619, 123 L.Ed.2d 178 (1993); Hall v. State, 614 So.2d 473, 478 (Fla. 1993). Further, contrary to representation in the Initial Brief (Initial Brief at 46), this claim is not preserved for review.

The record indicates that defense counsel filed no proposed penalty phase jury instructions. During the charge conference, defense counsel objected to any instruction on the aggravating circumstance relating to "avoid arrest", on the grounds that the evidence did not support such (R 920). When the court proposed instructing the jury on the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravating circumstance, defense counsel stated, "I object to that." (R 921); the objection was overruled (R 921). Following all of the instructions, defense counsel, after much prodding from the trial court, stated that he "renewed" his prior objections (R 957-958). Appellee respectfully suggests that this "objection" is too generalized to preserve any claim of error for

- 83 -

appellate review, in regard to the wording of the jury See, e.g., Bertolotti, supra (the specific legal instruction. ground upon which a claim is based must be presented to the trial court, in order to preserve an issue for appeal); Occhicone v. State, 570 So.2d 902, 906 (Fla. 1990) (same); Wenzel v. State, 459 So.2d 1086, 1087-1088 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1984) (claim of error in regard to trial court's failure to specifically instruct jury on underlying felony in third-degree murder not preserved for review, where defense counsel only stated, "I also object to the third-degree murder charge as it is given."); Kennedy v. Singletary, 602 So.2d 1285 (Fla.), cert. denied, ____ U.S. ___, 113 S.Ct. 2, 120 L.Ed.2d 931 (1992) (constitutional challenge to wording of jury instruction not preserved, where only objection applicability of aggravating factor). at. trial was to Accordingly, this claim is procedurally barred.

Further, on the facts of this record, it is beyond dispute that counsel's only "objection", such as it was, had to do with the court's giving of an instruction on this aggravating circumstance. After the judge had initially advised the parties that he was going to instruct the jury on this aggravating factor, he called the parties back into chambers, and advised them that he had just discovered that the standard jury instruction had been modified (R 929). The following then took place:

> THE COURT: Mr. Taylor, Mr. Ashton, Ms. Wilkinson. There's one think I'd like to note dealing with number eight on the list of aggravating circumstances. Originally, we had indicated at charge conference I would give the following, the crime for which the

defendant is to be sentences was especially wicked, evil, atrocious or cruel.

After the three of you had left, I read sometime ago that the Florida Supreme Court changed that instruction. That was changed by the Florida Supreme Court. It will be found at 579 So.2d page 75, June 21st, 1990. I will read what has been changed. The crime for which the defendant was to be sentenced was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel and pursuant to Dickon versus State and explain to them what is meant by those particular terms. That was the only change that I had to make while you were gone.

The one that we previously had was incorrect. Any objection on behalf of the state or the defense?

MS. WILKINSON: None from the state, Your Honor.

MR. TAYLOR [Defense counsel]: <u>No</u>, <u>Your</u> <u>Honor</u>.

(R 929) (emphasis supplied).

A clearer example of waiver would be difficult to imagine. See, Gunsby v. State, 574 So.2d 1085, 1089 (Fla. 1991) e.g., (defendant could not assert error on appeal in regard to jury instruction which he had expressly approved in trial court); Walton v. State, 547 So.2d 622, 625 (Fla. 1989) (defendant could not assert error in regard to penalty phase jury instruction to which he had stipulated in trial court); White v. State, 446 (Fla. 1984) (discussion of invited error 1031, 1036 So.2d doctrine); Lucas v. State, 376 So.2d 1149, 1152 (Fla. 1979) (where defense counsel defers to judge's statement of the law, it will not be presumed that judge would have made erroneous ruling, had objection been interposed). No claim of error has been preserved for review in regard to the constitutionality of the jury instruction sub judice.

Without waiving the above procedural argument, Appellee would simply observe that it would not be inappropriate for this court to make an alternative finding of harmless error, should it so desire, as it has done in other cases. See, e.g., Kennedy, supra. As the sentencing judge correctly observed, "If any case meets the definition of heinous, atrocious or cruel, it is this case." (R 1308). This court has found alleged Espinosa error to be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt when, under the facts of the case, the murder was clearly heinous, atrocious or cruel, "under any definition of those terms." See, e.g., Slawson v. State, 18 Fla.L.Weekly S209, S211 (Fla. April 1, 1993); Thompson v. State, 18 Fla.L.Weekly S212, S214 (Fla. April 1, 1993); Henderson v. Singletary, 18 Fla.L.Weekly S256 (Fla. April 19, 1993), cert. denied, ____ U.S. ___, 113 S.Ct. 1891, 123 L.Ed.2d 507 (1993); Happ v. State, 18 Fla.L.Weekly S305 (Fla. May 10, 1993) (error found harmless in case involving strangulation). Additionally, of course, in Sochor v. Florida, ____ U.S. ___, 112 S.Ct. 2114, 119 L.Ed.2d 326 (1992), the United States Supreme Court expressly recognized that this court has consistently found this aggravating circumstance applicable to homicides involving the strangulation of a conscious victim. Any jury instruction error sub judice was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The instant aggravating circumstance was properly found, and Carroll's sentence of death should be affirmed in all respects.

- 86 -

B. <u>Reversible Error Has Not Been Demonstrated</u> <u>In Regard To The Sentencer's Findings In</u> <u>Mitigation</u>

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